
            
 

The Mission of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District is to protect public health and our environment, providing effective wastewater 
collection, treatment, and resource recovery. 

 

  
 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 
 

                                 BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

March 21, 2024 
 

MATERIALS RELATED TO ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA ARE AVAILABLE FOR 

PUBLIC INSPECTION DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS AT THE DISTRICT 

OFFICE, 101 LUCAS VALLEY ROAD, SUITE 300, SAN RAFAEL, OR ON THE DISTRICT 

WEBSITE  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

   
OPEN SESSION: 

 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on matters not on the 

agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are generally 

limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or 

placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting. 

 

2.  CONSENT CALENDAR 

These items are considered routine and will be enacted, approved or adopted by one motion  

unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from the staff or the Board. 

A. Approve the Board Minutes for March 7, 2024 

B. Approve the Warrant List for March 21, 2024 

C. Approve Board Compensation for February 2023 

D. Approve Murray attending IRA and IIJA  Progress Report Webinar on March 14 

E. Approve Side Letter between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District and Operating Engineers Union 
Local No. 3 Amending Life Insurance Benefit 

Possible expenditure of funds:  Yes, Item B through D. 

Staff recommendation:  Adopt Consent Calendar – Items A through E. 

 

3. PUBLIC HEARING FOR ORDINANCE 194 AMENDING TITLE 4, CHAPTER 1 – REGULATING 
SOLID WASTE, RECYCLABLE AND ORGANIC MATERIALS, AND THE COLLECTION, REMOVAL 
AND DISPOSAL THEREOF INCLUDING THE GARBAGE AND REFUSE RATE ADJUSTMENT FOR 
2024 

Board to consider adoption of Ordinance No. 194 – An Ordinance amending Title 4, Chapter 1 of the 
District Ordinance Code and increasing the garbage and refuse rate by 6.45%. Representatives of Marin 
Sanitary Service and R3 Consulting Group will be in attendance to discuss the 2024 Rate Application 
Report. 

4:00 PM 

Estimated 
Time 
 

4:05 PM 

4:10 PM 

1

http://www.lgvsd.org/


March 21, 2024 Page 2 of 3 
  

  

  
 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 
 

 

4. INFORMATION ITEMS: 

STAFF/CONSULTANT REPORTS: 

1. CalPERS Unfunded Liability Report – presentation 

2. General Manager’s Report – verbal 

 

5. BOARD MEMBER VACANCY PROCESS 

Board to review the Board Vacancy process. 

 

6. BOARD ELECTIONS – VICE PRESIDENT 

Due to the Board vacancy, Board to elect a Vice President. 

 

7. NBWA CONFERENCE SPONSORSHIP 

Board to discuss sponsoring the April 19th NBWA Imagine Our Future North Bay Conference. 

 

8. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS:  

1. CLARK  
a. NBWA Board Committee, Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee,  

Fleet Management Ad Hoc Committee,  FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee,  
CASA Workforce Committee, Other Reports  

 
 

2. MURRAY 
a. Marin LAFCO, Flood Zone 6,   Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, CASA Energy Committee,  

 Development Ad Hoc Committee,   San Francisco Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee,  
 Other Reports 

 
 

3. ROBARDS 
a. Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek,  Engineering Ad Hoc Committee re: STPURWE, 

McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee,  Development Ad Hoc Committee, 
 FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
 
 

4. YEZMAN 
a. Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,   Ad Hoc Engineering Committee  re: STPURWE, 

                          Marin Special Districts,  Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee,  
              Other Reports 

9. BOARD REQUESTS: 
A. Board Meeting Attendance Requests – Verbal 

B. Board Agenda Item Requests – Verbal 

 

 

6:15  PM 

 
 
 
 

5:10 PM 

 

6:00 PM 

 

4:40 PM 

 

5:40 PM 

 

5:45 PM 

 

2



March 21, 2024 Page 3 of 3 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

10. VARIOUS INDUSTRY RELATED ARTICLES

11. ADJOURNMENT

 FUTURE BOARD MEETINGS APRIL 4 AND APRIL 18, 2024 

CERTIFICATION:  I, Teresa Lerch, Board Secretary of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, hereby 
declare under penalty of perjury that on or before March 18, 2024 4:00 p.m., I posted the Agenda for the 
Board Meeting of said Board to be held on March 21, 2024 at the District Office, located at 101 Lucas Valley 
Road, Suite 300, San Rafael, CA. 

DATED: March 14, 2024 

_______________________ 
Teresa L. Lerch 
Board Secretary 

 _________________________________________________________________  

The Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District meets regularly on the first and third Thursday of  
each month. The District may also schedule additional special meetings for the purpose of completing unfinished 
business and/or study session. Regular meetings are held at the District Office, 101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San 

Rafael, CA.  

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, 
please contact the District at (415) 472-1734 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. Notification  
prior to the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable accommodation to help ensure accessibility  
to this meeting.

AGENDA APPROVED: Craig K. Murray, President Patrick Richardson  Legal Counsel 

6:25  PM 

6:20 PM 

3



 

 
 

 

3/21/2024 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on 

matters not on the agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District. Presentations are generally limited to three minutes. All matters 

requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or placed on a 

future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting. 
 

AGENDA ITEM 1 

4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\03212024\Life\ASR Life Insurance Side Letter 1.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report    
         

 

To:  Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager   
 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: March 21, 2024 

Re: Consider adoption of Side Letter of Agreement between Las Gallinas Valley 
Sanitary District and Operating Engineers Union Local No. 3 Amending Life 
Insurance Benefit 

Item Type:   Consent  X  Action        Information    Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Adopt Side Letter of Agreement No. 1 between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (District) 
and Operating Engineers Union Local No. 3 (OE3) amending the Life Insurance benefit to 
$50,000. 

BACKGROUND 
A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the District and OE3, executed September 

18, 2023, is in effect through June 30, 2026. On January 2, 2024, OE3 submitted a written 

request to open the MOU specifically over Article 17.7 Life. 

 
OE3 and District representatives met on February 14, 2024 and discussed the life insurance 
benefit provided to OE3 members. OE3 requested, with the majority support of its membership, 
to decrease the group life insurance from $100,000 to $50,000 to avoid having its members 
taxed on the fringe benefit for insurance coverage over $50,000. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
On January 18, 2024, the Board identified Gregory Ramirez from IEDA as the Agency 

Designated Representative for labor relations consulting and labor negotiations for this topic. 

 

On February 1, 2024, the Board met in Closed Session and provided direction on this topic.  

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no cost to the District to implement this change. Underwriter review will be required to 
change the policy and it is anticipated premium costs will decrease by approximately 50%. 

Item Number_______2E____ 

GM Review   ______CP_____ 

 

25

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


SIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT NO. 1 
BETWEEN 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 

AND 

OPERATING ENGINEERS UNION LOCAL NO. 3 
 

 

I. Parties 

The Parties to this Side Letter of Agreement (herein after “Side Letter”) are the Las Gallinas 

Valley Sanitary District (hereinafter referred to as the “District”) and the Operating Engineers 

Local No. 3 (hereinafter referred to as the “Union”). 

II. Background 

The Parties are the signatories to a 2023-2026 Memorandum of Understanding (hereinafter 

referred to as the “MOU”) setting forth terms and conditions of employment for certain District 

employees.  The terms set forth below amend the existing MOU.  The Parties agree as follows: 

III. MOU Side Letter 

A. For Purposes of the MOU amendments set forth below, language that is overstruck (e.g. 

overstruck) will be omitted from the MOU.  Language that is italicized and boldfaced will 

be added to the MOU as indicated.  The existing MOU will, in all other respects, remain 

in effect without change through its existing term. 

B. Section 17.7 Life of the MOU is hereby amended to read as follows: 

The District shall provides term life insurance for theeligible employees in the 

amount of $50,000.  Thise life insurance terminates one (1) month after the 

employee leaves the employment of the District. 

As soon as administratively possible after adoption, the District will provide 

term life insurance for an eligible employee in the amount of one-times (1x) the 

employee’s annual base wage salary up to one hundred thousand dollars 

($100,000).  This life insurance benefit terminates one (1) month after the 

employee separates from employment with the District. 

IV.  General Provisions 

A. This Side Letter will take effect as soon as administratively possible after adoption by the 

District Board of Directors. 

B. The written terms herein embody the entire Side Letter of Agreement between the Parties. 

C. The Side Letter of Agreement modified language herein will be incorporated into any 

successor MOU by the Parties. 

[Signatures on next page] 

26



 
 

Page 2 of 2 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Side Letter of Agreement on 

this _______________ day of _____________________________ , 2024. 

 

For Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District  For Operating Engineers Union Local 3 

 

 

 

____________________________   ______________________________ 

Board Chair      Sr. Business Representative 

 

 

____________________________   ______________________________ 

General Manager     Union Representative 

 

 

       ______________________________ 

       Union Representative 

27



 

 
 

 

3/21/2024 
 

 Public Hearing for Ordinance 194 Amending Title 4, Chapter 1- 
Regulating Solid Waste, Recyclable and Organic Materials, And 

the Collection, Removal and Disposal Thereof Including the 
Garbage and Refuse Rate Adjustment for 2024 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

 Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

□ Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM 3 

28



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\03212024\Pension Liability\ASR Pension Liability Review.docx Page 1 of 2 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager 
 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: March 21, 2024 

Re: Pension Liability Review with Ridgeline Municipal Strategies 

Item Type:   Consent    Action        Information      X Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Receive report from Dmitry Semenov of Ridgeline Municipal Strategies, LLC (“Ridgeline”) on his 

review of the District’s Unfunded Accrued Liability (“UAL”) outstanding with the California Public 

Employees' Retirement System (“CalPERS”) and provide direction to staff.  

 
BACKGROUND   
Ridgeline is an independent registered municipal advisory and financial consulting firm that 
supports California's public agencies with Debt Issuance, Pension Cost Optimization, Revenue 
Generation, and Quantitative Strategies. The District contracted with Ridgeline to perform a 
2023 Pension Liability Assessment in preparation for the upcoming fiscal year 2024-2025 budget 
discussions. 
 
Highlights of the report are:   
 

• CalPERS’ historical investment returns suggest that a quick elimination of the 2022 UAL 
is unlikely and the District may want to consider additional steps to reduce the long-term 
interest costs associated with the new UAL. 

 

• CalPERS standard UAL practice results in negative amortization for each pension plan 
that does not take proactive steps. 

 

• After eliminating the negative amortization, the new 2023 UAL would still have an 
associated interest cost of approximately $128,000, which will be incurred over the 20-
year amortization term. 
 

• Pension Cost Optimization Strategies to lower its future UAL-related costs presented are: 
 

o Strategy A: Eliminate negative amortization. 
 
o Strategy B: Make additional discretionary contributions to reduce UAL balance. 

 
 

 

Item Number_______4.1_______ 

GM Review   ______CP________ 

29

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\03212024\Pension Liability\ASR Pension Liability Review.docx Page 2 of 2 

 

 

Management supports the suggested actions in Strategy A to reduce its future UAL costs by 

eliminating negative amortization. The following two administrative processes will be performed 

by staff as part of its annual CalPERS review and scheduled UAL payments in July. 

 

1. Make additional discretionary payments (ADPs) in the two years following the creation of 

a new UAL to cover accrued interest, and 

2. Convert the new Investment Loss UAL base from ramp-up to level amortization 

schedules.  

 
Strategy B could further lower the UAL interest costs by making additional ADPs to reduce the 
District’s UAL balance. This decision should be made after considering the overall District’s fiscal 
situation, including reserve balances, capital improvement projects, cash flow management, and 
Board of Directors’ vision and direction. The financial impact on the District of implementing 
Strategy B should be discussed by the Board before any action is taken. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
None. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The implementation of Strategy A, eliminating negative amortization, is projected to save the 
District approximately $27,000 over the 20-year UAL repayment period. 
 
Impacts from implementation of Strategy B, making additional discretionary contributions to 
reduce the District’s UAL pension plan balance, is dependent on Board action and the 
establishment of a funded ratio target for the pension plans. This can be developed along with 
the 2024-2025 budget. 
 

• ADP Required to Achieve 80% Funded Level  $1,418,000 

• ADP Required to Achieve 85% Funded Level  $2,344,000 

• ADP Required to Achieve 90% Funded Level  $3,271,000 
 
 
Attachments: 

A. Technical Memorandum – LGVSD 2023 Pension Liability Review; Ridgeline 

30



2 2 1 3  P L A Z A  D R I V E ,  R O C K L I N ,  C A  9 5 7 6 5  
T E L :  9 1 6 . 2 5 0 . 1 5 9 0 ;  W E B :  W W W . R I D G E L I N E M U N I . C O M  

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM 

To: Mr. Dale McDonald, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Mr. Curtis Paxton, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

From: Dmitry Semenov, Ridgeline Municipal Strategies, LLC 

Date: February 5, 2024 

Re: Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 2023 Pension Liability Review; 
Ridgeline #23056 

INTRODUCTION 

Per your request, Ridgeline Municipal Strategies, LLC (“Ridgeline”) has performed a 
review of the Unfunded Accrued Liability (the “UAL”) that the Las Gallinas Valley 
Sanitary District (the “District”) has outstanding with the California Public Employees' 
Retirement System (“CalPERS”). This technical memorandum documents the results of 
the review and suggested actions that the District could take to reduce its future UAL 
costs, which are: 

• Elimination of negative amortization for the 2023 UAL (estimated to save the
District approximately $27,000); and

• Additional discretionary payments to repay the 2023 UAL faster to generate
additional savings on the UAL interest.

DISTICT’S PENSION PLANS AND UNFUNDED ACCRUED LIABILITY 

The District provides pension benefits to its employees and retirees through two pension 
plans (Miscellaneous Classic and Miscellaneous PEPRA) with CalPERS. As of 
06/30/2022 (the most recent official information available as of the date of this 
memorandum), the plans had a total actuarial accrued liability (the estimated amount 
necessary to fund all earned pension benefits for current employees, retirees, and 

Attachement A

31

https://www.ridgelinemuni.com/
https://www.ridgelinemuni.com/


Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 2 
 
beneficiaries) of approximately $17.9 million and held approximately $13 million in 
assets. The plans were approximately 72.2% funded, with approximately $5 million UAL. 
 
Significant investment loss by CalPERS in FYE 2022 and CalPERS’ plan performance to 
actual experience reconciliation for the year resulted in significant UAL increases. 
 
Table 1 summarizes the District’s pension liabilities as of June 30, 2022.  
 

 
 

Source: CalPERS’ Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2022 
 

Graph 1 shows the amortization schedule for the recent and future UAL for both pension 
plans. 

Pension Plan
Total 

Accrued 
Liability

Market 
Value of 
Assets

Unfunded 
Accrued 
Liability

% 
Funded

Misc $16,416,092  $11,631,690  $4,784,402  70.9%

PEPRA Misc $1,527,570  $1,324,368  $203,202  86.7%

TOTAL $17,943,662  $12,956,058  $4,987,604  72.2%

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District
Table 1

Pension Plans Summary

32



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 3 
 

Graph 1 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Current UAL Amortization (000s) 
 

 
 
Source: CalPERS’ Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2022 
 

33



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 4 
 
CALPERS INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE FOR FYE 2022 and FYE 2023 

For FYE 2022, CalPERS incurred an investment loss of 7.5%. It was the fifth time in the 
last 30 years that CalPERS had an investment loss and the first investment loss incurred 
since FYE 2009. 
 
CalPERS recently announced its FYE 2023 investment earnings estimate of 5.8%. While 
this is a significant improvement over the prior year, it falls below the return target of 
6.8%, which results in an additional UAL increase. Graph 2 below shows the history of 
CalPERS’ annual investment returns. 
 

Graph 2 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

History of CalPERS’ Annual Investment Returns, FYE 1993-2023 
 

 
 
Source: CalPERS 
 
The average annual investment returns as reported by CalPERS are as follows: 

• 5 years: 6.1% 

• 10 years: 7.1% 

• 20 years: 7.0% 

• 30 years: 7.5% 

34



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 5 
 
 
The average returns indicate that historically CalPERS has been able to achieve the long-
term investment target rate of 6.8% (the current discount rate). CalPERS has been 
lowering the target rate over the last decades. It appears that the current target rate 
favorably corresponds to the past performance. However, past performance is not a 
guarantee of future results. 
 
 
SUMMARY OF FYE 2022 UAL INCREASES 

For FYE 2022, CalPERS added two new actuarial bases to the District’s pension plans: 

• The Investment Loss base increased the UAL to account for the investment loss of 
7.5%.   

• The Non-Investment Loss base is the annual reconciliation to account for the 
differences between the actuarial assumptions and the actual plan experience for 
the year. This base increased the UAL reportedly due to the extraordinary high 
COLA and payroll increases for the year. 

 
Table 2 summarizes the impacts of these two bases on the District’s UAL. 
 

 
 
Source: CalPERS 
 

While prior experience indicates that investment market downturns similar to what took 
place in FYE 2022 are followed by market recoveries, CalPERS’ historical investment 
returns suggest that a quick elimination of the 2022 UAL is unlikely and the District may 
want to consider additional steps to reduce the long-term interest costs associated with 
the new UAL. 
 

Pension Plan Investment 
Loss

Non-
Investment 

Loss

Total UAL 
Increase

Miscellaneous $1,829,048  $230,710  $2,059,758  

PEPRA Misc [1] $207,513  $21,468  $228,981  

TOTAL $2,036,561  $252,178  $2,288,739  

[1] Investment Loss includes previously overfunded balance.

Table 2
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

FYE 2022 UAL Increase Factors

35



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 6 
 
IMPACT OF FYE 2023 CALPERS’ INVESTMENT UNDERPERFORMANCE ON THE 
DISTRICT 

To assess the impact of CalPERS’ FYE 2023 investment underperformance on the funded 
status of pension plans, it is important to remember that to maintain an unchanged 
funded ratio, among other things, CalPERS needs to achieve an investment gain equal to 
the discount rate, which is currently 6.8%. Any time that the investment returns are below 
the discount rate, the funded level of the pension plans decreases and additional UAL is 
created. Conversely, whenever the investment returns are above the discount rate, the 
funded level increases and the UAL amount is reduced. 
 
With the 5.8% investment gain, the funding shortfall impact is 1% (the difference between 
the 6.8% discount rate and the 5.8% estimated investment return). This shortfall translates 
into approximately $129,000 of new UAL for the District, as shown in Table 3. 
 

 
 
Source: Ridgeline  
 
The investment underperformance impact is estimated based on the FYE 2022 market 
value of assets multiplied by 1%. CalPERS may make additional adjustments to account 
for actual vs. projected plan experience and any methodology changes. 
 
 
DISTICT’S ESTIMATED FYE 2023 PENSION PLAN FUNDED LEVELS 

CalPERS will publish the 06/30/2023 actuarial reports for the District in or around 
August 2024. The reports will reflect any changes that have taken place during the fiscal 
year, including the investment underperformance, the District’s and employees’ 
contributions, benefit payments, and adjustments to reconcile the actual vs. projected 
plan experience and to account for any actuarial methodology changes. 
 

Pension Plan Estimated 2023 
Add'l UAL

Misc $116,000  

PEPRA Misc $13,000  

TOTAL $129,000  

Table 3
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Estimated 2023 Investment Loss Impact

36



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 7 
 
While the reconciliation and methodology adjustments are currently unknown, Ridgeline 
has developed an estimate of the other changes, as summarized in Table 4. 
 

 
 
Sources: CalPERS, Ridgeline 
 
It should be emphasized that the amounts calculated in Table 4 are estimates only and 
can only be finalized once CalPERS publishes the 06/30/2023 actuarial reports in 
August 2024. 
 
The Normal Cost contributions, UAL payments, and benefit payments estimates were 
generated by CalPERS. The investment gain / loss and UAL interest estimates were 
generated by Ridgeline. 
 
It is estimated that the District’s pension plans were approximately 72.3% funded as of 
06/30/2023, before any additional adjustments that could be made by CalPERS. 
 
 
AMORTIZATION OF NEW UAL 

The new 2023 UAL will be amortized over a 20-year period with a 5-year ramp-up. The 
first payment will be due in FYE 2026 (July 2025). 
 

Description Classic PEPRA Amount

Market Value of Assets
2022 Balance $11,632,000  $1,324,000  $12,956,000  

Normal Cost Contribution $193,000  $89,000  $282,000  
UAL Payment $325,000  $7,000  $332,000  
Investment Gain / (Loss) $675,000  $77,000  $752,000  
Benefit Payments ($920,000)  $0  ($920,000)  

Estimated 2023 Balance $11,905,000  $1,497,000  $13,402,000  

Unfunded Accrued Liability
2022 Balance $4,784,000  $203,000  $4,987,000  

UAL Payment ($325,000)  ($7,000)  ($332,000)  
Interest $325,000  $14,000  $339,000  
Investment (Gain) / Loss $116,000  $13,000  $129,000  

Estimated 2023 Balance $4,900,000  $223,000  $5,123,000  

Pension Plan 2023 Funded Level 70.8% 87.0% 72.3%

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District
2023 Pension Plan Funded Level Estimate

Rounded to '000s

Table 4

37



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 8 
 
The amortization schedule is based on the estimated 2023 UAL base balance shown in 
Table 3 above. It is estimated that the $129,000 of the new UAL will result in an additional 
$156,000 in interest cost for the District over the 20-year amortization period. 
 
Table 5 provides the annual detailed estimate of the existing UAL amortization and the 
new UAL amortization schedule.  
 

 
 
Source: CalPERS’ Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2022, Ridgeline 
 
Graph 3 illustrates how these amortization payments will impact the District’s UAL 
repayment structure. 
 
 
 

Existing 
UAL 2023 UAL Total Existing 

UAL 2023 UAL Total Existing 
UAL 2023 UAL Total

2024 $314,060  $0  $314,060  $0  $0  $0  $314,060  $0  $314,060  
2025 $378,447  $0  $378,447  $6,912  $0  $6,912  $385,359  $0  $385,359  
2026 $409,763  $2,844  $412,607  $11,621  $319  $11,940  $421,384  $3,163  $424,547  
2027 $440,126  $5,688  $445,814  $16,331  $637  $16,968  $456,457  $6,325  $462,782  
2028 $464,779  $8,532  $473,311  $21,040  $956  $21,996  $485,819  $9,488  $495,307  
2029 $519,867  $11,376  $531,243  $25,750  $1,275  $27,025  $545,617  $12,651  $558,268  
2030 $530,401  $14,220  $544,621  $25,750  $1,594  $27,344  $556,151  $15,814  $571,965  
2031 $541,229  $14,220  $555,449  $25,750  $1,594  $27,344  $566,979  $15,814  $582,793  
2032 $552,360  $14,220  $566,580  $25,750  $1,594  $27,344  $578,110  $15,814  $593,924  
2033 $548,188  $14,220  $562,408  $25,750  $1,594  $27,344  $573,938  $15,814  $589,752  
2034 $543,466  $14,220  $557,686  $25,750  $1,594  $27,344  $569,216  $15,814  $585,030  
2035 $532,067  $14,220  $546,287  $25,750  $1,594  $27,344  $557,817  $15,814  $573,631  
2036 $512,621  $14,220  $526,841  $25,750  $1,594  $27,344  $538,371  $15,814  $554,185  
2037 $328,375  $14,220  $342,595  $25,750  $1,594  $27,344  $354,125  $15,814  $369,939  
2038 $303,971  $14,220  $318,191  $25,750  $1,594  $27,344  $329,721  $15,814  $345,535  
2039 $278,055  $14,220  $292,275  $25,750  $1,594  $27,344  $303,805  $15,814  $319,619  
2040 $257,558  $14,220  $271,778  $25,749  $1,594  $27,343  $283,307  $15,814  $299,121  
2041 $243,949  $14,220  $258,169  $25,749  $1,594  $27,343  $269,698  $15,814  $285,512  
2042 $209,577  $14,220  $223,797  $25,750  $1,594  $27,344  $235,327  $15,814  $251,141  
2043 $174,172  $14,220  $188,392  $25,749  $1,594  $27,343  $199,921  $15,814  $215,735  
2044 $309,627  $14,220  $323,847  $25,749  $1,594  $27,343  $335,376  $15,814  $351,190  
2045 $25,862  $14,220  $40,082  $0  $1,594  $1,594  $25,862  $15,814  $41,676  

TOTAL $8,418,520  $255,962  $8,674,482  $467,900  $28,685  $496,585  $8,886,420  $284,647  $9,171,067  

Table 5
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Estimated UAL Amortization Schedule - CalPERS

FYE
Miscellaneous Classic Plan TotalMiscellaneous PEPRA Plan

38



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 9 
 
 

Graph 3 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District  

UAL Repayment with 2023 Projected Base Amortization ($000s) 
 

 
 
Source: CalPERS’ Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2022, Ridgeline  

39



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 10 
 
PENSION COST OPTIMIZATION STRATEGIES 

In addition to following the historical practice of prepaying the UAL payments by July 
31 of each year, there are two pension cost optimization strategies that the District may 
want to implement to lower its future UAL-related costs pertaining to the 2023 UAL 
increase: 

- Strategy A: Eliminate negative amortization 

- Strategy B: Make additional discretionary contributions 
 
 
Strategy A: Eliminate Negative Amortization 

Negative amortization is one of the key factors contributing to the growth of UAL and 
associated pension costs. It occurs whenever debt service payments do not cover accrued 
interest, with unpaid interest added to principal balance.  
 
The standard CalPERS practice does not require agencies to make any payments on new 
UAL for the first two years.  After that the UAL is amortized over a 20-year term with a 
5-year ramp-up period to the full payment amount.  
 
During the ramp-up period, the payments increase by 20% of the full payment amount 
each year. In other words, the first year’s payment amount is only 20% of the full 
payment, the second year’s payment amount is 40% of the full payment, etc.  
 
However, the new UAL starts accruing interest at 6.8% (the discount rate) as soon as it is 
added to the plan.  
 
Thus, the CalPERS standard UAL practice results in negative amortization for each 
pension plan that does not take proactive steps.  
 
In each year when the District’s UAL payments on any given actuarial UAL base are less 
than the interest accrued on that base, the base’s balance increases. In the following year, 
the interest is accrued on the higher balance. 
 
Under the current CalPERS amortization rules, each agency finds itself in a negative 
amortization situation for the first five years after new UAL is incurred. In year 6, the 
required payment amount is just slightly higher than the interest amount for the year, 
which translates into essentially an interest-only payment. It is only in year 7 that the 
UAL starts being paid down. 
 
This leads to significantly higher interest costs for the CalPERS member agencies. 
 

40



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 11 
 
Elimination of negative amortization is a recommended practice. It is achieved in two 
steps. 
 

1. Additional discretionary payments (ADPs) in the two years following the creation of new 
UAL to cover accrued interest.  
 

The ADP amount is calculated by multiplying the new UAL amount by 6.8%. These 
payments can be made as early as in the 13th and 25th months following the end of the 
fiscal year in which the new UAL was created. For the 2023 actuarial UAL bases, such 
ADPs can be made as early as July 2024 and July 2025. 

 
To make these payments, you have to contact your CalPERS actuary 2-3 weeks prior to 
making the payments, inform them that you would like to make an ADP to cover the 
interest on the 2023 Investment Loss base, and to instruct them to apply the ADP to the 
2023 Investment Loss base.  

 
The actuary will then set up a receivable in the system to allow you to make the payment 
through the District’s MyCalPERS portal.  

 
These actions should be taken after July 1, 2024 (after the fiscal year is closed) and need 
to be repeated the following year as well.  

 
With the District’s 2023 estimated new UAL addition of approximately $129,000, the 
ADPs necessary to avoid the negative amortization are estimated to be $8,770, to be paid 
in July of 2024 and 2025. 
 
It should be noted that the payment calculations for the elimination of the negative 
amortization are based on the estimated investment performance of 5.8%. The actual 
amounts can be confirmed once the FYE 2023 Actuarial Reports are published by 
CalPERS in or around August 2024. 
 

2. Convert the new Investment Loss UAL base from ramp-up to level amortization schedule. 
 

This request should be made to the District’s CalPERS actuary as soon as the new 
actuarial report becomes available (tentatively, in August of 2024). As a result of the 
request, the District’s UAL payments will be recalculated from the ramp-up to level 
repayment schedule. The first payment will still be due in FYE 2026 (July 2025). 
 
The implementation of these two strategies is projected to save the District 
approximately $27,000 over the 20-year UAL repayment period, as shown in Table 6. 
 

41



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 12 
 

 
 
Source: Ridgeline 
 
 

Misc 
Classic

Misc 
PEPRA Total Misc 

Classic
Misc 

PEPRA Total Misc 
Classic

Misc 
PEPRA Total

2024 $0  $0  $0  $7,888  $884  $8,772  ($7,888)  ($884)  ($8,772)  
2025 $0  $0  $0  $7,888  $884  $8,772  ($7,888)  ($884)  ($8,772)  
2026 $2,844  $319  $3,163  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  ($7,936)  ($889)  ($8,825)  
2027 $5,688  $637  $6,325  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  ($5,092)  ($571)  ($5,663)  
2028 $8,532  $956  $9,488  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  ($2,248)  ($252)  ($2,500)  
2029 $11,376  $1,275  $12,651  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $596  $67  $663  
2030 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2031 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2032 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2033 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2034 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2035 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2036 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2037 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2038 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2039 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2040 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2041 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2042 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2043 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2044 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  
2045 $14,220  $1,594  $15,814  $10,780  $1,208  $11,988  $3,440  $386  $3,826  

TOTAL $255,962  $28,685  $284,647  $231,375  $25,930  $257,305  $24,586  $2,755  $27,342  

Table 6
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Negative Amortization Elimination Detail

FYE
Standard CalPERS Amortization Revised Amortization Schedule Difference

42



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 13 
 
Graph 4 illustrates how the elimination of the negative amortization impacts the UAL repayment schedule. 
 

Graph 4 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

UAL Repayment with Elimination of Negative Amortization ($000s) 
 

 
 
Source: CalPERS’ Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2022, Ridgeline  

43



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 14 
 
Table 7 provides the annual detailed estimate of the existing UAL payments and the new 
UAL amortization schedule factoring in the elimination of the negative amortization. 
 

 
 
Source: CalPERS’ Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2022, Ridgeline 

Existing 
UAL

2023 UAL Total Existing 
UAL

2023 UAL Total Existing 
UAL

2023 UAL Total

2024 $314,060  $7,888  $321,948  $0  $884  $884  $314,060  $8,772  $322,832  
2025 $378,447  $7,888  $386,335  $6,912  $884  $7,796  $385,359  $8,772  $394,131  
2026 $409,763  $10,780  $420,543  $11,621  $1,208  $12,829  $421,384  $11,988  $433,372  
2027 $440,126  $10,780  $450,906  $16,331  $1,208  $17,539  $456,457  $11,988  $468,445  
2028 $464,779  $10,780  $475,559  $21,040  $1,208  $22,248  $485,819  $11,988  $497,807  
2029 $519,867  $10,780  $530,647  $25,750  $1,208  $26,958  $545,617  $11,988  $557,605  
2030 $530,401  $10,780  $541,181  $25,750  $1,208  $26,958  $556,151  $11,988  $568,139  
2031 $541,229  $10,780  $552,009  $25,750  $1,208  $26,958  $566,979  $11,988  $578,967  
2032 $552,360  $10,780  $563,140  $25,750  $1,208  $26,958  $578,110  $11,988  $590,098  
2033 $548,188  $10,780  $558,968  $25,750  $1,208  $26,958  $573,938  $11,988  $585,926  
2034 $543,466  $10,780  $554,246  $25,750  $1,208  $26,958  $569,216  $11,988  $581,204  
2035 $532,067  $10,780  $542,847  $25,750  $1,208  $26,958  $557,817  $11,988  $569,805  
2036 $512,621  $10,780  $523,401  $25,750  $1,208  $26,958  $538,371  $11,988  $550,359  
2037 $328,375  $10,780  $339,155  $25,750  $1,208  $26,958  $354,125  $11,988  $366,113  
2038 $303,971  $10,780  $314,751  $25,750  $1,208  $26,958  $329,721  $11,988  $341,709  
2039 $278,055  $10,780  $288,835  $25,750  $1,208  $26,958  $303,805  $11,988  $315,793  
2040 $257,558  $10,780  $268,338  $25,749  $1,208  $26,957  $283,307  $11,988  $295,295  
2041 $243,949  $10,780  $254,729  $25,749  $1,208  $26,957  $269,698  $11,988  $281,686  
2042 $209,577  $10,780  $220,357  $25,750  $1,208  $26,958  $235,327  $11,988  $247,315  
2043 $174,172  $10,780  $184,952  $25,749  $1,208  $26,957  $199,921  $11,988  $211,909  
2044 $309,627  $10,780  $320,407  $25,749  $1,208  $26,957  $335,376  $11,988  $347,364  
2045 $25,862  $10,780  $36,642  $0  $1,208  $1,208  $25,862  $11,988  $37,850  

TOTAL $8,418,520  $231,375  $8,649,895  $467,900  $25,930  $493,830  $8,886,420  $257,305  $9,143,725  

Table 7
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Estimated UAL Amortization Schedule - Elimination of Negative Amortization

FYE
TotalMisc Classic Plan Misc PEPRA Plan

44



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 15 
 
Strategy B: Additional Discretionary Contributions 

After eliminating the negative amortization, the new 2023 UAL would still have an 
associated interest cost of approximately $128,000, which will be incurred over the 20-
year amortization term.  
 
To further lower the UAL interest costs, the District may want to consider making 
additional ADPs to reduce its UAL balances. This decision should be made in light of the 
overall District’s fiscal situation, including reserve balances, capital improvement 
projects, cash flow management, Board of Directors’ vision and direction, etc. 
 
Table 8 shows the estimated ADP amounts necessary to achieve 80%, 85%, and 90% 
funded ratio for the pension plans. 
 

 
 
Source: Ridgeline 
 
It should be noted that the estimated above ADP amounts include the current interest 
ADPs discussed in this report. 
 
CONCLUSION 

Proactive pension liability management practices are essential for keeping the District’s 
future UAL balances and the associated interest costs under control. 
 

Description Amount Comments

Estimated 2023 MVA $13,402,000  See Table 4
Estimated 2023 UAL $5,123,000  See Table 4

Estimated 2023 Total Accrued Liability $18,525,000  

Estimated 2023 Funded Level 72.3%  See Table 4

80% Funded Level Amount $14,820,000  

85% Funded Level Amount $15,746,000  

90% Funded Level Amount $16,673,000  

ADP Required to Achieve 80% Funded Level $1,418,000  

ADP Required to Achieve 85% Funded Level $2,344,000  

ADP Required to Achieve 90% Funded Level $3,271,000  

Table 8
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Funded Ratio Target Estimate

45



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2023 Pension Liability Review – 02/05/2024 

Page 16 
 
This report only covered the elimination of the negative amortization for the FYE 2023 
base. The same approach can be applied to the FYE 2022 bases. 
 
To eliminate the negative amortization on the FYE 2022 and anticipated FYE 2023 
actuarial bases, the following ADPs are suggested: 
 

 
 
Source: Ridgeline 
 
If you have any questions about this technical memorandum or suggested strategies, do 
not hesitate to contact us.  

Actuarial Base FYE 2023 
ADP

FYE 2024 
ADP

FYE 2025 
ADP

Miscellaneous Classic
2022 Investment Loss $124,400  $124,400  $0  
2022 Non-Investment Loss $15,700  $15,700  $0  
2023 Investment Loss $0  $7,900  $7,900  

Miscellaneous PEPRA
2022 Investment Loss $14,100  $14,100  $0  
2022 Non-Investment Loss $1,500  $1,500  $0  
2023 Investment Loss $0  $900  $900  

TOTAL $155,700  $164,500  $8,800  

Table 9
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Summary of Current Interest ADPs (rounded)

46



 

 
 

 

3/21/2024 
 

 General Manager Report 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM 4.2 

47



 

 

 Page 1 of 2 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Teri Lerch, Board Secretary 
 (415) 526-1510, tlerch@lgvsd.org  
Meeting Date: March 21, 2024 

Re: Board Member Vacancy Process 

Item Type:   Consent          Action    X  Information  Other    X      . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Director Ron Ford resigned from the Board of Directors effective March 8, 2024. 
 
The Board to make a determination on whether to fill the vacancy by appointment or by calling for 
an election. 
 
If filling by appointment, staff recommends the application period to receive candidate  
applications be from March 27 to April 15.  The Board will also designate the date and time in 
April to hold interviews with qualified candidates. Staff recommends the Board conduct a Special 
Board Meeting for Interviews the week of April 22nd. The Board could then appoint the selected 
candidate at that Special Board Meeting or at the Regular Board meeting to be held on May 2nd. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Board Member Ron Ford submitted his written resignation from the District Board on March 8, 
2024. Gov. Code § 1780 and Board Policy B-90 addresses the process for filling vacancies in the 
elective office of a governing board for special districts. See attached memo from District Counsel. 
 
The Marin County Registrar of Voters must be notified of the vacancy within fifteen (15) days of 
the announcement of the vacancy (03/23/2024). This was done on March 11, 2024. 
 
When a vacancy exists, and the Board elects to appoint, the Board shall request applications from 
the public by posting a Public Notice (Attachment A) in at least three or more conspicuous places 
in the District for at least fifteen (15) days prior to making an appointment. In addition, the notice 
will be published in the Marin Independent Journal. The application period, requirements, 
responsibilities, and filing deadline are included in the attached notice. The appointment must 
occur within sixty (60) days of the vacancy (05/07/2024).  
 
Applicants must complete the District’s Application Form (Attachment B) and attach a resume and 
submit it to the Secretary of the Board within the specified application period.  
 
Instead of making an appointment, the Board can call for an election within sixty (60) days of 
being “notified of the vacancy” or the “effective date of the vacancy, whichever is later.”  An 
election must be held on the next election date. 
 

Item Number_____5______ 

GM Review   ______CP_____ 

 

48



 

 

 Page 2 of 2 

 
 
If neither an appointment is made or a call for an election within sixty (60) days of being “notified 
of the vacancy or the effective date of the vacancy, whichever is later”, than the County Board of 
Supervisors may appoint a replacement within ninety (90) days of the date the District Board is 
“notified of the vacancy or the effective date of the vacancy, whichever is later.” 
 
If within ninety (90) days of the date that the District Board is “notified of the vacancy or the 
effective date of the vacancy, whichever is later,” the District Board or the Board of Supervisors 
have not filled the vacancy and no election has been called for, then the District Board shall call 
for an election, to be held at the next election. 
 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 
None   
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. Public Notice Announcing Vacancy (draft) 
B. Board Vacancy Application Form (draft) 

49



 

 

1 

MEMORANDUM  

TO:  Board of Directors, LGVSD 

 

FROM:  Patrick M.K. Richardson, Esq., District Counsel 

 

DATE:  March 21, 2024 

 

SUBJECT:  Board Vacancy and Procedures for Filling Said Vacancy 

 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

BACKGROUND: 

This Memorandum is intended to outline the procedures for appointment or an election to fill a 

vacant seat on the Board. 

On March 7, 2024, Board Member Ron Ford verbally notified the Board that he intended to 

resign from the Board following the Board Meeting on March 7th.  Thereafter, on March 8, 2024, 

Board Member, Ron Ford, formally notified the Board, in writing, that his resignation was 

effective as of March 8, 2024.   

Member Ford’s term began in December of 2022 and would end in December 2026.  The next 

General Election in which Member Ford’s seat would be up for election is November of 2026.  

However, it should be noted that there is also a General Election this November, 2024.  These 

dates affect the procedural requirement under Gov. Code § 1780. (“Special districts; vacancies in 

elective offices of governing board; election dates; term”). 

DISCUSSION: 

Is there a Vacancy on the Board? 

Yes, there is a vacancy as of March 8, 2024, the date of Member Ford’s written confirmation of 

his resignation.  Section B-90-10 of the Board “Policies and Procedures Manual,” discusses 

when a “vacancy” occurs on the Board: 

“B-90-10 How a Vacancy Occurs. A vacancy on the Board is deemed to exist when a Board 

Member resigns, is impeached, dies or fails to discharge the duties of office for three 

consecutive months.” 

In addition, Gov. Code § 1770 specifically outlines numerous situations where a vacancy occurs 

on a legislative body, “resignation” being one of them.1   

 
1 § 1770 list the reasons for a vacancy as: Death, physical or mental incapacity, resignation, removal 

from office, absence from the State, ceasing to discharge his or her duties for three consecutive months, 

conviction of a felony, failure or neglect to file the required oath or bond, his or her election having been 

declared to void, an order vacating the office or declaring the office vacant, commitment of the member 

to a hospital or sanitarium by a court, or the member is list in the “Excluded Parties List System.” 

[Emphasis added] 

50



 

 

2 

Statutory Requirement to Fill a Vacancy on The Board: 

Vacancies in the membership of the Board shall be filled pursuant to Section 1780 of the 

Government Code. (Cal. Health & Safety Code § 6483).2  The Board may fill the vacancy either 

by appointment or by calling for an election.  Regardless of the process that the Board chooses, it 

must notify the county elections official of the vacancy no later than fifteen (15) days after either 

the date on which the Board is notified of the vacancy OR the effective date of the vacancy, 

whichever is later. 

A.  Should the Board decide to appoint a replacement the Board is required to take the following 

steps, pursuant to § 1780(d): 

1. The Board must notify the county elections official of the vacancy no later than fifteen 

(15) days after the “effective date of the vacancy.” That deadline would be 3/22/24.  The 

actual 15th day falls on a Saturday.  Therefore, to be conservative, the County elections 

official should be notified on Friday the 22nd. 

2. The remaining Board members must make an appointment within sixty (60) days of 

either the “date of notification of the vacancy” OR the “effective date of the vacancy,” 

whichever is later. 

3. The District must post a notice of the vacancy in three (3) or more places at fifteen (15) 

days before the Board makes an appointment.  

4. Since the vacancy occurs in the first half of Board member Ford’s term and at least 130 

days prior to the next general district election, any person appointed to fill the vacancy 

would fill the vacancy until the election in November 2024.  Whoever is elected in 

November 2024 shall fill the “balance of the unexpired term of office” following their 

election in November and be in office through November 2026. (§1780(d)(2))3 

B.  Instead of making an appointment, the Board can call for an election within sixty (60) days of 

being “notified of the vacancy” OR the “effective date of the vacancy, whichever is later.” 

(§1780(e)(1)).  An election must be held on the next election date. 

C.  If neither an appointment is made or a call for an election within sixty (60) days of being 

“notified of the vacancy” OR the “effective date of the vacancy, whichever is later,” THAN the 

County Board of Supervisor’s may appoint a replacement within ninety (90) days of the date the 

Board is “notified of the vacancy” OR the “effective date of the vacancy, whichever is later.”. 

(§1780(f)(1). 

D.  If within ninety (90) days of the date that the Board is “notified of the vacancy” OR the 

“effective date of the vacancy, whichever is later,” the Board or the Board of Supervisors have 

 
 
2 Unless otherwise noted, hereinafter all references are to the Gov. Code. 

 
3  Gov. Code § 1780(d)(2) reads as follows: “If the vacancy occurs in the first half of a term of office and 

at least 130 days prior to the next general district election, the person appointed to fill the vacancy shall 

hold office until the next general district election that is scheduled 130 or more days after the date the 

district board is notified of the vacancy, and thereafter until the person who is elected at that election to 

fill the vacancy has been qualified. The person elected to fill the vacancy shall hold office for the 

unexpired balance of the term of office. 

51



 

 

3 

not filled the vacancy and no election has been called for, then the Board SHALL call for an 

election, to be held at the next election (§1780(g)(1)(2). 

Related Board Policies and Procedures Re: Vacancies: 

Sec. B-90 of the Board Policies and Procedures governs the filling of a vacancy on the Board.  

These procedures essentially mirror the procedures outlined in §1780, referenced above, which 

are as follows: 

“B-90 APPOINTMENT IN EVENT OF VACANCY 

Purpose 

This policy determines when a Board vacancy occurs and sets forth procedures to fill the vacancy. 

B-90-10 How a Vacancy Occurs. A vacancy on the Board is deemed to exist when a Board 

Member resigns, is impeached, dies or fails to discharge the duties of office for three 

consecutive months. 

B-90-20 Applications. After a vacancy exists, the Board shall request applications from the public 

and announce a schedule for the application period after consultation with the Marin County 

Registrar of Voters. A date when applicants will be interviewed by the Board in open public session 

will be established. 

B-90-30 Resumes. Applicants shall complete a District form and attach a resume and submit it to 

the Secretary of the Board within the specified application period. 

B-90-40 Interviews. The order of the interviews by the Board shall be determined by draw. 

B-90-50 Majority Vote. The appointment to fill the vacancy shall be by majority vote. 

B-90-60 Election. If the vacancy is not filled by appointment, the Board shall call for an election 

within 60 days of the vacancy occurring. 

B-90-70 Board of Supervisors. If the Board fails to fill the vacancy by appointment and fails to call 

an election within 60 days of the vacancy occurring, the District shall turn the matter over to the 

Marin County Board of Supervisors for a decision on an appointment or the calling of an election to 

fill the vacancy.” 

[Emphasis added]. 

 

SUMMARY: 

At this time, due to Board member Ford’s resignation, the Board can choose to proceed with the 

appointment procedures or call for an election.  Regardless of whichever option is chosen, the 

appointee or vacant Board seat will be up for election in November.  

Again, the current pertinent deadlines are: 

1. 3/22/24 - 15 days:  Must notify county elections official whether the Board intends to 

appoint a replacement or to call for an election. 

 

2. 5/7/24 - 60 days:  Deadline to make an appointment, assuming the Board decides to 

make an appointment. 

52



 

 

 
 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San Rafael, CA 94903 
www.lgvsd.org  

 

PUBLIC NOTICE: 
 

Vacancy on Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Board of Directors 

 

Application Period: March 27 to April 15, 2024 
 

REQUIREMENTS: Candidates must live in the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
(LGVSD) 16 square mile service area, which encompasses the northern part of the City 
of San Rafael and surrounding unincorporated areas of Marin County, including the 
communities of Lucas Valley, Marinwood, Santa Venetia and Terra Linda.  
  
Prospective candidates must confirm residency requirements and voter registration 
requirements with the Marin County Elections Office.  
 
RESPONSIBILITIES: The Board of Directors sets the policies for the activities and 
affairs of LGVSD. Board Members are expected to attend all regular board meetings on 
the first and third Thursday of every month at 4:00 p.m., and additional meetings 
scheduled as needed. Board Members also serve on committees with regularly 
scheduled meetings.  
 
PROCESS: Applications are available online at www.lgvsd.org and from the District 
Office located at 101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San Rafael, Monday through 
Thursday between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 3:30 p.m. and every other Friday 6:00 am 
to 2:30 p.m. If you have questions, contact Teri Lerch, Board Secretary at (415) 526-
1510. Candidate interviews with current Board Members are scheduled for Monday, 
April 15th in the LGVSD Board Conference Room. The Board of Directors plans to 
appoint the selected candidate at a board meeting on May 2, 2024  
 
FILING DEADLINE: A signed hard copy of the completed application must be 
physically received by District administrative staff by 3:30 PM, Monday April 15th, 
at the District Office, 101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San Rafael, CA 94903. The 
District is not accepting emailed applications.  
 
TERM OF OFFICE: The appointment will be effective until December 2024. The Board 
seat will be on the November 2024 ballot.  

ATTACHMENT A 

53



 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

APPLICATION FOR MEMBER OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

NAME:  
 

ADDRESS:  
 
 
 

PHONE: (Day)  
 

(Evening)  (Cell)  

EMAIL:  
 

PRESENT POSITION:  
 
 

NAME OF FIRM:  
 

BUSINESS ADDRESS:  
 
 

EDUCATION:  
 
 
 

NUMBER OF YEARS I HAVE BEEN A RESIDENT OF LGVSD:  
 

COMMUNITY GROUPS AND AFFILIATIONS:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FILING DEADLINE: A SIGNED HARD COPY OF THIS APPLICATION MUST BE 
RECEIVED BY DISTRICT ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF NO LATER THAN 3:30 P.M. APRIL 
15th AT THE DISTRICT OFFICE, 101 LUCAS VALLEY ROAD, SUITE 300, SAN RAFAEL, 
CA 94903.  
 

54



 

 

 
MY REASONS FOR WANTING TO SERVE ARE: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Per Government Code Section 1780, the Board of Directors is required to fill this 
vacancy expediently. As such, it is anticipated that round of interviews will be scheduled 
for ______________________ If you are invited to the interviews, please confirm 
your availability. 
 

 

DATE:               
 
 

SIGNATURE:  
 

 

55



 

 

Page 1 of 1 

  Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

To: Board of Directors 

From: Teri Lerch, Executive Assistant/Board Secretary 
   (415) 526-1510; tlerch@lgvsd.org 

Mtg. Date: March 21, 2024 

Re: Board Elections – Vice-President  

Item Type:   Consent    Action    X    Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No     (See attached) Not Applicable     X        . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Director Ford resigned on March 8, 2024. Based on the historical rotation, staff recommends that 
the Board appoint Director Gary Robards as Vice President of the Board.  

BACKGROUND  
The election for President and Vice-President occurs in January of each year and has been 
rotated between members annually.  
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
At the January 4, 2024 Board Meeting, Director Murray was appointed President and Director 
Ford was appointed Vice President.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
N/A 
 

Item Number______6_______ 

GM Review   _______CP_______ 

 

56



57



58



59



60



 

 
 

 

3/21/2024 
 

BOARD MEMBER REPORTS 
CLARK 

NBWA Board Committee, CASA Workforce Committee, 
Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee, Fleet 
Management Ad Hoc Committee, FutureSense Ad Hoc 
Committee, Other Reports 
 

MURRAY 
Marin LAFCO, Flood Zone 6,  Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, 
CASA Energy Committee, Development Ad Hoc Committee, 
SF Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  
  

ROBARDS 
Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek, Engineering Ad 
Hoc Committee re: STPURWE,  McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc 
Committee, Development Ad Hoc Committee, FutureSense 
Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  

 
YEZMAN 

Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,  Ad Hoc Engineering Sub-
Committee re: STPURWE, Marin Special Districts 
Association, Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
 

AGENDA ITEM 8 

61



                                                                                  AGENDA ITEM 9A 
                                                                                 DATE: March 21, 2024             

REVISED 06012021 

 
 

BOARD MEMBER 

 MEETING ATTENDANCE REQUEST 
 

 

Date:___________Name:__________________________________________________ 

 

I would like to attend the __________________________________________Meeting 

of _____________________________________________________________________ 

To be held on the ______ day of ___________ from ________ a.m. / p.m. to 

_______day of ___________ from  _________ a.m. / p.m. 

Location of meeting:____________________________________________________ 

Actual meeting date(s):____________________________________________________ 

Meeting Type: (In person/Webinar/Conference)_______________________________ 

Purpose of Meeting:______________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________ 

Meeting relevance to District:__________________________________________  

                  YES     NO 

Request assistance from Board Secretary to register for Conference:          

 

Frequency of Meeting: ____________________________________________________ 

 

Estimated Costs of Travel (if applicable):____________________________________ 

 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Date submitted to Board Secretary:________________________________________ 

 

Board approval obtained on Date:_________________________________________ 

 

Please submit this form to the Board Secretary no later than 1 week  prior to the 

Board Meeting.  

 

  

62



 

 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\03212024\Board Agenda Item Requests.docx 

3/21/2024 
 

BOARD AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS 
 

Agenda Item 9B 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report 

□ Presentation 

 

63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76


	Agenda 03212024
	1 Public Comment
	2A Board Minutes 03072024
	2B Draft Warrant List 03212024
	2C Board Compensation February 2024
	2D Murray IRA and IIJA Webinar Request
	2E Life Insurance Side Letter
	3 Public Hearing for Ordinance 194 Garbage and Refuse Rate 2024
	4.1 Pension Liability Review
	4.2 General Manager Report
	5 Board Member Vacancy Process
	6 Board Election Vice President
	7 NBWA Conference Sponsorship
	8 Board Member Reports
	9A Board Member Meeting Attendance Request
	9B Board Agenda Item Requests
	10 Various Industry Articles



